

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Power Sources 171 (2007) 558-566

www.elsevier.com/locate/jpowsour

# Understanding and approaches for the durability issues of Pt-based catalysts for PEM fuel cell

Review

Yuyan Shao<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Geping Yin<sup>a</sup>, Yunzhi Gao<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Applied Chemistry, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin 150001, China <sup>b</sup> Department of Macromolecular Science and Engineering, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH 44106, USA

> Received 23 May 2007; received in revised form 27 June 2007; accepted 3 July 2007 Available online 10 July 2007

#### Abstract

The state-of-art understanding of durability issues (the degradation reasons and mechanisms, the influence of working conditions, etc.) of Ptbased catalysts for proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC) and the approaches for improving and studying catalyst durability are reviewed. Both carbon support and catalytic metals degrade under PEMFC conditions, respectively, through the oxidation of carbon and the agglomerate and the detachment from support materials of catalytic metals, especially under unnormal working conditions; furthermore, the degradation of carbon support and catalytic metals interact with and exacerbate one another. The working temperature, humidity, cell voltage (the electrode potential and the mode applied on the electrode), etc. can influence the catalyst durability. Carbons with high graphitization degree as support materials and alloying Pt with some other metals are proved to be effective ways to improve the catalyst durability. Time-effective and reliable methods for studying catalyst durability are indispensable for developing PEMFC catalysts.

© 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC); Electrocatalysts; Durability; Degradation; Accelerated degradation test (ADT)

# Contents

1.	Introduction	558
2.	Degradation model/mechanisms	559
	2.1. Why catalysts degrade	559
	2.2. Degradation mechanisms	560
	2.2.1. Carbon corrosion	560
	2.2.2. Catalytic metals	560
	2.3. Working condition influence on catalyst durability	561
3.	Approaches for the catalyst durability issues	562
	3.1. Strategies to improve the durability	562
	3.1.1. Catalyst support	562
	3.1.2. Pt alloy	563
	3.2. Methods for studying catalyst durability	563
4.	Conclusions and future directions	564
	References	564

# 1. Introduction

Proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC) is considered as an ideal power source for mobile and stationary application. However, presently several factors (e.g., lifetime, reliability and

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 216 357 8972. *E-mail address:* yuyan.shao@gmail.com (Y. Shao).

<sup>0378-7753/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.07.004

cost) are hindering the commercialization of PEMFC. Lifetime of PEM fuel cell is the most important one and may change other factors [1], the requirement of which ranges from 5000 operating hours for car applications, up to 20,000 operating hours for bus applications and up to 40,000 operating hours for stationary applications [2]. Therefore, there is a rapidly growing interest in the investigation of performance degradation of PEM fuel cells and the degradation of the component materials [1,3]. The degradation of carbon-supported Pt (Pt/C) and its alloy (PtM/C) catalysts is one of the most important factors that decrease the operation life of PEMFC [4–7]. The durability of catalysts is of significance not only for lengthening PEMFC operation life, but also enhancing the reliability and reducing the total lifetime cost (gauged in US\$ kW<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) [5].

The electrochemically active Pt sites in the membrane electrode assembly (MEA) are the only effective ones for fuel cell electrode reactions. So the more the sites of electrochemically active Pt (e.g., electrochemical surface area, ESA), the higher the performance of fuel cell electrodes. Most reports reveal that during PEMFC operation, Pt nanoparticles usually agglomerate or fall off from carbon support, as shown in Fig. 1, which results in the decrease in the ESA and consequently deteriorates the performance of PEMFC [2,8]. The carbon support can be



Fig. 1. Schematic representing Pt agglomeration on and Pt detachment from support material surface.

oxidized under PEMFC conditions which also degrades the performance of PEMFC [9–12]. The degradation mechanism is still being investigated and the approaches for improving the catalyst durability are also under extensive exploration. Great progresses have been achieved in this field in the past years. However, there are still discrepancies on catalyst durability [13–16], especially on the degradation mechanism of Pt/C (PtM/C) under PEM fuel cell conditions [17,18].

The state-of-art understanding of the durability issues of Ptbased catalysts under real or simulated PEMFC conditions is reviewed based on the selected reports from peer-reviewed journal publications. The approaches to improve catalyst durability and the methods for studying catalyst durability issues are also discussed. An insight into the future research and development of durable catalysts for PEMFC is provided.

#### 2. Degradation model/mechanisms

#### 2.1. Why catalysts degrade

The size of Pt-based catalyst used in PEMFC is in nanometer scale, usually in the range of 2–6 nm. Nanoparticles inherently [7,19] show a strong tendency to agglomerate due to their high specific surface energy [20]. For nanoparticles, the smaller the size, the higher the specific surface area, and the easier to agglomerate/sinter [7]. So when Pt nanoparticles agglomerate to bigger ones, the electrochemical surface area of Pt catalysts decreases, and consequently the performance of PEMFC degrades. In addition, as can be seen from the following, this coarsening process can be accelerated under PEMFC conditions.

PEMFC is operated under an extremely harsh condition [7,9,10,21]. The anode catalysts are exposed to a strong reducing H<sub>2</sub> atmosphere; for the cathode, the catalysts are under strongly oxidizing conditions: high oxygen concentration, high potential [>0.6 V versus the standard hydrogen electrode (SHE), and sometimes to see too high potentials (e.g., >1.2 V) for short periods of time [12]]. In order to get higher efficiency, increasing cell voltage is the only way [22], which results in an increase of electrode potential in cathode, under which surface oxides of Pt are formed [18,23–26], which not only decreases the Pt activity toward oxygen-reduction reaction (ORR), but also accelerates the degradation of Pt catalysts. In addition, both the anode and cathode of PEMFC are operated under the condition of low pH (<1), high temperature (80  $^{\circ}$ C or above), and with significant levels of water in both vapor and liquid phase. So the corrosion of Pt/C (PtM/C) catalysts, both catalytic metals and the support materials, is a common problem for PEMFC.

The degradation of catalysts can be exacerbated under unnormal operating conditions. The corrosion of catalysts in PEMFC under open-circuit situation is higher than when the current flows [27]. In the case of fuel starvation, i.e., hydrogen is no longer available to be oxidized [2], the anode potential will rise to that enough to oxidize water (if water is available) which can produce oxidative species, or the carbon support at the anode is oxidized instead (if water is not available). In the case of start–stop procedures, there might be local hydrogen starvation [11], that means that the anode is partially exposed to hydrogen and partially exposed to air [28], which can raise the cathode interfacial potential difference to about 1.44 V [11], sometimes cathode potential as high as two times of open-circuit voltage (OCV) [28], at which the carbon in the catalyst layer can be corroded completely within a few hours. This is called the "reverse current" phenomena [11]. Oxygen crossover from the cathode to the anode can also cause the "reverse current" phenomena [11]. The oxidation of carbon can be further catalyzed by the presence of platinum [27,29–31]. When carbon support is oxidized, Pt or Pt alloy falls off carbon and the electrochemical surface area is decreased. Cell reversal during PEMFC operation with fuel starvation leads to severe ruthenium loss in PtRu catalyst [32].

# 2.2. Degradation mechanisms

The degradation of catalysts includes the two aspects of catalytic metals (Pt or Pt alloys) and carbon support, which influence each other. The catalytic metal, especially Pt catalyzes the oxidation of carbon [33,34], and the oxidation of carbon accelerates Pt sintering [9].

#### 2.2.1. Carbon corrosion

As to the degradation of carbon support, there are almost no discrepancies on the oxidation of carbon. Carbon oxidation is often observed in an electrochemical system, according to  $C+H_2O \rightarrow CO_2+4H^++4e^-$ , the thermodynamic potential at standard conditions for which reaction is only 0.207 V [35], which means that the electrochemical oxidation of the carbon is thermodynamically possible above 0.2 V [29]. Differential electrochemical mass spectroscopy (DEMS) investigation on the electrochemical oxidation of carbon reveals that in the presence of Pt, CO<sub>surf</sub> is formed on the carbon at E > 0.3 V (RHE), which is oxidized to CO<sub>2</sub> at potentials between 0.6 and 0.8 V (RHE) [31].

In the presence of water, carbon can also be consumed through the heterogeneous water-gas reaction:  $C + H_2O \rightarrow H_2 + CO$  [12], especially in the presence of Pt, even though the rate of this reaction might be lower than that of the electrochemical oxidation at the cathode in PEMFC conditions [36,37]. The reaction product CO might poison the catalyst Pt. The reaction rate of carbon combustion increases as the platinum loading increases [38] because the higher the Pt loading, the more the interfacial area between Pt and carbon and the larger fraction of the carbon is in the "reactive zone", implying that platinum catalyzes carbon combustion [12,39]. It is possible that the more efficient a catalyst is for the oxygen-reduction reaction, the more likely it is that the carbon support can degrade chemically through a water-gas type of reaction [12]. As expected, the degradation rate of carbon support increases with the temperature [21,38]. The properties of carbon can also influence its degradation rate [12]: carbon support with a higher degree of graphitization and/or a lower specific surface area exhibits an alleviated degradation. Either CO<sub>2</sub> or CO formed during carbon oxidation decreases the amount of carbon available for Pt loading, which forces Pt nanoparticles fall off the carbon support and decreases the electrochemical surface area. On one other side, oxygencontaining groups (e.g., carboxyl, carbonyl, hydroxyl, phenol, etc.) can also be formed on carbon surface under oxidative conditions [9,10,37,40]. The presence of oxygen-containing groups can both decrease the conductivity of catalysts and weaken the interaction between the support and the catalytic metal nanoparticles which results in an accelerated sintering of catalytic metal nanoparticles [9,10,41]. The electrochemical corrosion of the carbon surface leads to changes in the surface chemistry of the carbon and an increase in hydrophilicity for the catalyst layer and gas diffusion layer, which result in a decrease in the gas permeability [29] and might affect the water transport mechanisms which leads to 'flooding' of pores [16]. Carbon corrosion will increase the electrode resistance by decreasing the thickness of the catalyst layer [19] and thus decreasing the electric contact with the current collector [42,43].

#### 2.2.2. Catalytic metals

It is generally believed that the electrochemical surface area of Pt is one of the important parameters for characterizing a fuel cell electrode [7,9,17]. A larger ESA implies a better electrode, as more catalyst sites are available for electrode reactions. It is reported that the performance degradation of PEMFC is largely due to the ESA loss of the electrodes [8,44]. The decrease in ESA mainly results from the increase of Pt or Pt alloy nanoparticle size, the dissolution of Pt and/or other alloyed catalytic metals into the electrolyte, and the detachment of Pt and/or Pt alloy nanoparticles from the carbon support. But so far, there is still no agreement on the respective contribution of the above factors to the total decrease in the ESA [17].

As to the increase in catalytic nanoparticle size, i.e., the sintering/agglomeration of Pt or Pt alloys, there are several fundamentally different pathways [4,17,19,45]: (i) Pt dissolution and redeposition [46,47], which is also called "Ostwald ripening", (ii) the coalescence of Pt nanoparticles via Pt nanocrystallite migration on the carbon support [48–51], (iii) the transport of Pt atoms on the carbon support, so-called "2D Ostwald ripening" as compared with the case of (i), which is also called "3D Ostwald ripening". There is still no agreement on which pathway mentioned above dominates the observed ESA loss [17]. Several approaches have been tried for this issue. Due to the potential-dependent solubility of platinum species in the electrolyte, there should be potential-dependent ESA loss for Pt dissolution/redeposition mechanism, which is observed in the case of concentrated phosphoric acid [46,52,53] or H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> aqueous solution [13]. The presence of Pt species in the polymer membrane [19,54,55] after extended life testing is another evidence for dissolution/redeposition mechanism [52,53]. Soluble platinum species have been found in the water collected from the reactant gases exiting the cell [15]. The evidence for the crystallite migration and coalescence mechanism is that in the case without electrolyte [49,56], Pt sintering in Pt/C catalysts is observed in gas-phase heating but is insignificant at low temperatures in the gas phase [13]. In the temperature of 125–195 °C, no noticeable platinum particle sintering occurred during long-term (3000 h) exposure to dry air conditions [38]. In liquid phase, the increase in Pt nanoparticle size is greatly accelerated, even though no external electrochemical force is

employed [13]. It was suggested that water molecules were able to penetrate between the metal islands and the substrate to lower the metal/substrate bonding energy and to facilitate migration of the metal crystals [49]. Other approaches are based on comparing experimental data with theoretically predicted particle size distributions of aged catalysts [17], i.e., [57] for the crystallite migration and coalescence process the distribution is negligible below a certain finite size, has a maximum on the small-particle side and a tail toward the large-particle side [58]; for the Ostwald ripening process the distribution is negligible above a certain finite size, is characterized by a tail toward the small-particle side and has a maximum on the large-particle side [59]. This is because that the two processes are quite different: in the first case the growth is caused by cluster-cluster collisions and it is a random process accompanied by liquid like coalescence of the particles, while in the second one the growth takes place by interparticle transport of single atoms, the driving force of this process being the minimization of the clusters Gibbs free energy [59]. But the problem is the limitation of the approaches for size characterization [17,38] and other disturbing factors [17].

It has been noticed that the proposed degradation mechanism of Pt/C (PtM/C) differs for different researchers' results and the different conditions under which the investigation is carried out. It is expected that the degradation mechanism for Pt/C (PtM/C) catalysts, especially for the nanoparticle size increase, should be different under various working conditions [13], for example, the dissolution/precipitation mechanism might be more prevalent when load cycling occurs [42].

#### 2.3. Working condition influence on catalyst durability

It is observed that the loss in the ESA of PEMFC cathodes is much larger than that of anodes [14,60] and that voltage cycling of Pt/C (PtM/C) catalysts in aqueous acids leads to accelerated platinum dissolution compared to extended holds at constant potentials [17,61–64]. This implies that working conditions have a great influence on the degradation of catalysts, which include the electrode potential, the temperature, the humidity, etc. [63,64].

The electrode potential and the mode applied on the electrode both influence the degradation of catalysts. It is observed that in acidic solution (e.g.,  $0.5 \text{ mol } L^{-1} \text{ H}_2 \text{SO}_4$  [13,17],  $0.57 \text{ mol } L^{-1}$ HClO<sub>4</sub> [65]) the dissolving rate of platinum wire electrode increases with increasing potentials from 0.65 to 1.1 V (versus SHE) under potentiostatic conditions and is logarithmically dependent on potentials in the 0.85-1.1 V region [65]. And above 1.1 V, the dissolving rate decreases, which is attributed to the formation of a protective platinum oxide film [13,65]. For Pt/C, the dissolving rate of platinum at 0.9 V is comparable with that of Pt wire electrode [65]; the dissolving rate of platinum increases monotonously with increasing potential (0.6-1.2 V)[13]. Cycling the potential between the oxide formation and reduction regions leads to higher dissolution rates than potential holding in the oxide formation region, with the later being three to four orders of magnitude lower than the former [65]. This is because once the oxides are reduced by negative potential sweep,  $Pt^{Z+}$  ions are formed and dissolved in electrolyte [66,67], and an accelerated corrosion takes place [68]. It is suggested that two types of Pt oxide,  $\alpha$ -Pt oxide and  $\beta$ -Pt oxide, with  $\alpha$ -Pt oxide being a thin monolayer and the  $\beta$ -Pt oxide being a thick, highly hydrated, porous, polymer-like or aggregate with a rather open structure material, are formed during Pt electrooxidation [67]. Both  $\alpha$ -Pt and  $\beta$ -Pt oxides include components of PtO, PtO<sub>2</sub>,  $Pt(OH)_2$ , and  $Pt(OH)_4$ . The  $\alpha$ -Pt oxide forms under a moderate oxidation condition and is reduced in the potential range from 0.7 to 0.8 V versus RHE. The  $\beta$ -Pt oxide forms under a severe oxidation condition and is reduced under a more negative potential than  $\alpha$ -Pt oxide [67]. However, when the lower voltage is set above the Pt oxide reduction potential [69], or the upper potential limit is set below the Pt oxide reduction potential, i.e., 0.8 V [45], the degradation of Pt catalysts is greatly alleviated. It is also observed that the number of cycles is the dominant effect in the loss of platinum surface area; time at high potential has a secondary effect [63,64].

The humidity is another important parameter that affects the degradation of catalysts, for example, Pt surface area loss is largely mitigated by operating the cell at 25% relative humidity (RH) as compared to 100% RH [70]. The degree of platinum oxidation on PEMFC cathode increased significantly with an increase in RH from 20 to 72% [71]. It has also been shown that the growth of platinum particles is accelerated in the presence of a liquid environment [13,49,72–74], which is attributed to the lowered activation energy of particle growth [49,72,74]. As described above, water molecules are suggested to be able to penetrate between the metal islands and the substrate to lower the metal/substrate bonding energy and to facilitate migration of the metal crystal [13,60]. Methanol might be more aggressive toward electrocatalysts than water, so for a DMFC, the ripening of catalysts is more significant [8]. In terms of carbon corrosion, there is some contradistinction: the rate of carbon combustion is higher when the samples were held at temperature under humidified air than when they were held at temperature under dry air [12], however, carbon corrosion of the electrode catalyst layer was found to increase with decreasing humidity [63,64].

The degradation of catalysts is also a function of temperature. Catalyst coarsening rates exhibited a linear increase with temperature [63,64]. In the experiment of Pt dissolution at a certain potential, it is estimated that the  $Pt^{2+}$  equilibrium concentration in acidic solution at 0.9 V increases by two orders of magnitude from 25 to 80 °C and an additional order of magnitude from 80 to 120 °C [5]. The corrosion of carbon support is exacerbated with increasing temperature [12,38].

Contaminants in fuel or from air can also influence the catalyst stability [75–77], some lead to reversible and temporary depression in cell performance [78], and some lead to permanent loss of performance [75,79]. Recent evidence has shown that the contaminant CO<sub>2</sub> in fuel can also have a degrading effect on cell performance by producing adsorbed CO that can poison the electrode catalyst [80–82] through in situ reaction with H<sub>2</sub> (CO<sub>2</sub> + H<sub>2</sub>  $\rightarrow$  H<sub>2</sub>O + CO) in PEMFC or the electroreduction of CO<sub>2</sub> (CO<sub>2</sub> + 2H<sup>+</sup> + 2e<sup>-</sup>  $\rightarrow$  CO + H<sub>2</sub>O) [83].

The crossover of reactant gas can facilitate the sintering of Pt catalyst, which is due to the highly exothermic chemical reaction of  $H_2$  and  $O_2$  on the surface of Pt catalyst which consequently

generates a local hotpoint, thus leads to an accelerated sintering of the catalyst with a resulting loss of ESA [1,84].

# 3. Approaches for the catalyst durability issues

The approaches for the catalyst durability issues include two aspects: one is that how to improve catalyst durability, the other is that how to test catalyst durability and screen catalysts with desirable durability and catalytic activity.

## 3.1. Strategies to improve the durability

The durability of catalysts is inherently determined by the properties of both the catalytic metals and the support materials and the specific interaction between them. It is reasonably expected that the higher the durability of catalytic metals and support materials, and the stronger the specific interaction between them, the higher the durability of the resultant catalysts. So the strategies to improve the durability of catalysts can be in general categorized into two aspects: support materials and catalytic metals.

## 3.1.1. Catalyst support

The support materials for catalysts currently used in most PEM fuel cells are porous carbon. There are several basic requirements for an improved carbon support [12]: high surface area, leading to the deposition of small platinum particles (maximizing catalytic surface area); low combustive reactivity under both dry and humid air conditions at low temperatures ( $150 \,^{\circ}$ C or less); improved electrochemical stability under fuel cell operating conditions, and high conductivity. In addition, it should be easy to recover Pt in the used catalyst. The Vulcan XC-72 carbon black is the most popular one. But its durability under chemically and electrochemically oxidizing conditions needs further improvement [10].

It is found that the extent of graphitization of the carbon plays an important role on carbon support stability, with more graphitic carbons being more thermally and electrochemically stable [12,13,35,41], which is due to the decreased defect sites on carbon structure where carbon oxidation initiates [10,13]. Increasing the degree of graphitization leads to the increasing strength of  $\pi$  sites (sp<sup>2</sup>-hybridized carbon) on the support, which acts as anchoring centers for Pt [85], thus strengthen the metal-support interaction and the resistance of Pt to sintering [41]. The graphitization can be achieved by heating carbon materials in protective gas to a high temperature (1600°C or more), the higher the graphitizing temperature, the higher the graphitization degree in the resultant carbon materials [41,86]. Graphitization really produces a material which is highly resistant to oxidation and carbon corrosion, decreasing the number of active surface sites; however, the problem is, with fewer active sites, metal deposition on graphitized carbon support is more difficult [42].

With the development of novel carbon nanostructure materials [87], e.g., carbon nanotubes (CNT) [88,89], carbon nanofibers [90], etc. more and more attention is paid on their application as catalyst support [91–93]. The catalysts with these novel carbon nanostructure materials as support show enhanced catalytic activity toward fuel cell reactions [93-96]. It has been reported by several research groups that CNTs are more resistant to electrochemical oxidation than carbon black in both cases of with and without Pt on them [9,10,34,97]. This is due to the higher durability of the support and the specific interaction between Pt nanoparticles and the novel support. CNTs are usually considered as the rolled graphene sheets with a coaxis and with less dangling bonds and defects than carbon black [10,98]. It is difficult for oxidative atoms/groups to attack CNTs' closed structure, and consequently it is stable in strongly oxidizing conditions. It is also proposed that the delocalized  $\pi$  bond of CNTs is much stronger due to their higher degree of graphitization than that in carbon black. Pt is believed to bond with carbon support through the interaction between Pt and  $\pi$  electrons of the graphene sheets in carbon support, the stronger the  $\pi$  bond (sp<sup>2</sup>-hybridized carbon), the stronger the interaction [9,41]. The stronger interaction between Pt and CNTs is suggested to contribute to the high stability of resultant catalysts (Pt/CNTs) [9,13].

Doping of carbon support with a second element is expected to modify the properties of resultant catalysts. It has been shown that nitrogen-doped carbon nanotube/nanofiber (CNT/CNF) with catalytic metals or without catalytic metals on them show enhanced catalytic activity toward oxygen-reduction reaction [99–101]. Nitrogen-doped carbon as the catalyst support is also expected to improve the durability of the resultant catalysts, because of the enhanced  $\pi$ -bonding [41,102] and the basic property [103], which are due to the strong electron donor behavior of nitrogen [104–106]. It is known that the stability of the metal particles and the mechanism of platinum particle growth depend on the surface acid-base properties of the carbon support [4]. The acidic/basic environment present on carbon surface affects in the way the movement of Pt particle on the carbon surface. Increasing of Lewis basicity of carbon surface results in strong anchoring of Pt to carbon [85]. Both N atoms and  $\pi$ -bonding contribute to the basicity of carbon [85].

A new kind of support material nanostructured thin film (NSTF) developed by 3M shows promising performance in improving catalyst durability [43,107]. The NSTF support layer consists of a monolayer of oriented crystalline whiskers of an organic pigment material (CAS #PR149). The support layer is deposited first onto a microstructured catalyst transfer substrate via a vacuum roll-good process. Then catalysts are sputtercoated on top of the whiskers so as to encapsulate them with a polycrystalline thin film [107]. The organic whiskers are highly inert thermally, chemically, and electrochemically [107]. It has been shown that the NSTF catalyst is able to withstand 1.5 V under H<sub>2</sub>/N<sub>2</sub> (PEMFC conditions) without corrosion of the support or loss of surface area or loss of catalyst activity, for either pure NSTF Pt or NSTF ternary catalysts, which is a significant differentiating feature over carbon or graphitic carbon-supported catalysts [107]. Significantly reduced fluoride ion release rates (75 times lower) is also observed in the water effluent from NSTF ternary catalyst-based MEAs operating at 120 °C than in the case of conventional Pt/C electrodes [43,107]. However, one disadvantage with NSTF catalyst is its large Pt particle size (10–15 nm) and low electrochemical surface area ( $10 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1} \text{ Pt}$ ) [43,107].

## 3.1.2. Pt alloy

In addition to a higher activity toward fuel cell electrode reactions [108], the duration tests in PEMFC also indicate that Pt alloyed with non-precious metal catalysts present a higher stability against dissolution than the state-of-the-art pure platinum catalysts [109,110]. So alloying Pt with a second and/or third metal is an important strategy to improve the service life of catalysts [27]. Many efforts have been devoted in this field and obvious advances have been achieved in the past years.

Popov and co-workers [111] reported the investigation on the durability of Pt<sub>3</sub>Ni<sub>1</sub>/C with a so-called accelerated durability test (ADT). It is observed that platinum particles migrate on the carbon surface and aggregate to form larger particle sizes in Pt/C, however, no agglomerates of metal particles are observed for Pt<sub>3</sub>Ni<sub>1</sub>/C and this is not affected by the applied potential. The authors attributed these phenomena to the anchor effects of Ni to platinum on carbon substrates: the mobility of platinum on a carbon surface is hindered when Ni is present; thus, the sintering effect of platinum atoms is suppressed [111]. Similar results have been observed by Wei et al. for Pt/Fe alloy on a carbon substrate [112]. It is well known that Fe has a strong tendency to alloy with carbon. Therefore, Pt atoms are bonded more strongly to carbon through bridges of Fe [112]. The anchor effect was also observed on  $Pt_4ZrO_2/C$  [113,114], which is for potential application in high-temperature PEMFC. The existence of oxide or hydroxide can inhibit the agglomeration of catalyst crystallite to some extent, and hence prolong the life of the catalyst [115]. When  $ZrO_2$  is present on carbon, the highly dispersed Pt atoms are obstructed by the adjacent ZrO<sub>2</sub> and the agglomeration of Pt particles could be inhibited [113].

The enhanced durability is also observed on ternary catalysts [116,117]. The improvement in durability of PtRuNi/C (40 wt% metal, Pt:Ru:Ni = 1:1:1) in acid solution is attributed to a Ni hydroxide passivated surface and/or the enhanced stability of Ni in the Pt lattice (anchoring of metallic nickel in the platinum lattice) [116]. It is observed [117] that the Pt alloy catalyst (Pt<sub>6</sub>Co<sub>1</sub>Cr<sub>1</sub>/C) still shows higher catalytic activity to ORR after life test (500 h) than Pt/C due to the lower oxidation-state of Pt in the alloy as compared to pure platinum as seen from curve-fitted Pt 4f XPS spectra, which means the alloyed metals might increase the resistance of Pt to oxidation.

But a common problem exists for all Pt/non-precious metals alloy catalysts [118–120]: non-precious metals in the alloys suffer from dissolution in acid solution, such as in the case of  $Pt_3Ni_1$ [111], Pt–Cu–Fe [121], Pt–Co [122,123], Pt–Ni [123], Pt–Fe [123], with Pt–Ni alloy showing the lowest metal dissolution followed by Fe [123]. The dissolution of non-precious metals results in the decrease in oxygen-reduction activity of the catalysts [123]. The dissolution of the alloying elements followed by diffusion into the membrane will lead to additional deterioration on cell performance [122]: (i) decreasing ionomer/membrane conductivity; (ii) reducing water content and dehydrating membranes [124]; (iii) suppressing oxygen-reduction kinetics by a decrease of oxygen concentration or oxygen diffusion coefficient in ionomer film [125]. In order to lessen the detrimental effect of dissolved non-precious metals without losing durability and catalytic activity, pre-leaching of the alloy is proposed [126]. It is observed that the potential cycles lead to increased dissolution of Fe and the rearrangement of Pt at the surface and formation of a Pt skin layer, protecting the underlying Pt–Fe alloy from corrosion [118]. Other studies in wet cells have shown that after the catalysts have been briefly immersed in an acid electrolyte, a skin consisting of a monolayer of pure Pt forms on the surface of the Pt-alloys [118–120].

Alloying Pt with a non-dissolvable metal shows more promising results in terms of improving catalyst durability. Adzic and co-workers [110] modified Pt nanoparticles with gold (Au) clusters and the resultant oxygen-reduction fuel-cell electrocatalysts is stabilized against dissolution under potential cycling regimes without decreasing the oxygen-reduction kinetics. In their work [110], the Au clusters were deposited on a Pt catalyst (carbonsupported Pt nanoparticles) through galvanic displacement by Au of a Cu monolayer on Pt [127–129], on which a monolayer of Cu was in advance underpotentially deposited [130-132]. It was observed that the oxidation of Au/Pt/C electrocatalyst commences at considerably higher potentials than that for the Pt/C catalyst; thus, the oxidation of Pt nanoparticles modified by Au clusters requires much higher potentials than are necessary for unmodified Pt nanoparticles. The high Pt oxidation potential of the Au/Pt/C electrocatalyst (that is, the lower extent of Pt oxidation) is considered as the major mechanism for the stabilization effect of Au clusters [110]. It has been shown that potential cycling between the oxide formation and reduction regions of Pt leads to increased dissolution rates of Pt [61,64,65,67]. The increase in the oxidation potential of Pt expands the stable potential region for Pt catalysts, especially increase the up potential limit, which is of significance for improving fuel cell efficiency [22]. Other reports [119,120,133–135] have also shown that at high voltages (>0.8 V), there is an inherent Pt activity loss for oxygen-reduction reaction due to adsorption of oxygenated species (OH<sup>-</sup>) from water which is recognized as a poison to oxygen cathodes that contributes to the high O2 reduction overpotential [136] and contributes to the oxidation of Pt. OHadsorbs at more positive voltages on Pt alloys than on Pt surfaces. Thus, the Pt surfaces of these alloys are more active for the ORR because of slower OH<sup>-</sup> species adsorption at high cell voltages [133], which is also confirmed with theoretical investigation [136] and experimental measurements [137].

#### 3.2. Methods for studying catalyst durability

The investigation on the durability of materials for application in PEMFC is a time-consuming and complex task [15]. To test the durability of catalysts in a real normally working PEMFC is inefficient, if not impossible, because the life requirement for PEMFC, thus its materials, is, for example, >5000 h for transportation and >40,000 h for stationary application [2,126]. Therefore, the so-called accelerated degradation test (ADT) is developed [12,17,40,111]. These ADT methods include: (i) thermal degradation under hot air conditions [12,38,39], (ii) aging in hot aqueous acid solution [13,126], (iii) open-circuit cell operation [138]; (iv) electrochemically forced aging under simulated cell conditions [9,10,111,123].

Cai et al. [40] developed an accelerated thermal sintering protocol, in which carbon corrosion and platinum surface area loss that are observed for electrocatalysts over long periods of electrochemical potential cycling and potential hold can be conveniently simulated by high temperature experiments at 250 °C in an environment containing about 0.7% oxygen, 8% water and helium (balance gas).

Dahn and co-workers [139–141] develops an acid treatment of Pt alloy to study the durability of catalysts, showing that the acid treatment could simulate the corrosion that occurs in the typical working environment of the PEMFC.

The open-circuit voltage tests have the advantage of an accelerated life evaluation over normal operating methods. The reaction at anode is the H<sub>2</sub> and the crossover O<sub>2</sub> and at cathode is the O<sub>2</sub> and the crossover H<sub>2</sub> [84], so H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and other oxidative species are expected to be formed [142–145], which is considered as a poison to both membranes and catalysts [146]. Base on the assumption that Pt degradation at the cathode is caused by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, Teranishi et al. [147] developed a model to describe the degradation of Pt catalysts under OCV conditions in which the rate of Pt degradation is equivalent to that of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> generation and the generation rate of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> at the cathode would then be dependent on the amount of H<sub>2</sub> gas cross leak from the anode and on the rate of O<sub>2</sub> gas supply.

Electrochemically forced aging under simulated cell conditions is often carried out in a three-electrode half-cell system, in which aqueous acid solution is used to mimic Nafion [9,17,111]. Usually, a constant potential in the range of cathode potential in a working PEMFC [9,10,111] or a potential cycling in the potential region of between the oxidation and reduction of Pt [61,67,110] is applied on the catalyst electrode. During the life test, the electrochemical surface area is tested using cyclic voltammetry (CV) [9]; the concentration in the aqueous acid solution of dissolved metals (Pt and non-precious metals) is monitored [17,111]; and sometimes the catalyst sizes before and after degradation test is characterized using XRD and TEM.

Among all the above mentioned methods, Gasteiger and coworkers [70,148] proposed the following two test methods as reliable and efficient screening tools for fuel cell catalyst development: (i) catalyst voltage cycling test; (ii) support corrosion test at 1.2 V. And because the electrochemical surface area of the fuel cell electrocatalyst decreases faster during potential cycling, which is also more closely related to drive cycle operation of PEMFC on vehicles [148], than during constant potential or constant current testing, Borup et al. [63,64] suggested potential cycling as a possible accelerated testing method for electrocatalysts.

In most of the ADT methods, aqueous acid solution (0.5 M HClO<sub>4</sub> [144], 0.57 M HClO<sub>4</sub> [65], 0.6 M HClO<sub>4</sub> [149], 0.5 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> [9,10,17]) is employed to mimic the Nafion electrolyte in PEMFC conditions. It is believed that HClO<sub>4</sub> aqueous solution is preferred as the electrolyte in mimic the Nafion (but the concentration is still not identical), more closely than H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>

aqueous solution due to a significant anion adsorption effect in the later one [65,144].

Most of the ADT methods are ex situ ones, so how and to what extent the ex situ methods can mimic the real working condition of PEMFC is still in question. Time-effective and reliable methods for material durability investigation are indispensable. Much work is still needed in this topic.

#### 4. Conclusions and future directions

The significance of catalyst durability to PEMFC can never be overvalued. The reasons and mechanisms for the catalyst degradation, the influencing factors and approaches for improving catalyst durability and for studying the durability issues are reviewed. The degradation of Pt-based PEMFC catalysts can be categorized into two aspects: the corrosion of carbon support and the degradation of catalytic metals. To use carbon with higher graphitization degree as support materials and to alloy Pt with other metals can improve the catalyst durability. A time-effective and reliable method for studying catalyst durability is indispensable. More work is still needed in these topics.

The research and development of new catalysts for PEMFC is still largely based on traditional trial-and-error method and is still more an art than a science [148]. Recently, it has been shown that less costly and significantly improved electrocatalysts can be designed by developing a fundamental understanding of their atomic-scale phenomena, using a combination of state-of-the-art experimental techniques and modern quantum chemistry methods [150–152], which is more efficient and stronger than the traditional method [148,153,154]. Density functional theory (DFT) calculation has been employed in the investigation of catalysts durability [155,156]. The advances in modern quantum chemistry and computer science and technology should be well employed and are expected to play more and more significant role on studying durable catalysts, at the same time, with high catalytic activity and low cost.

Most of present investigations on PEMFC catalysts are carried out under low temperatures (<80 °C), only a few are on improved temperatures (120-150 °C) [51,60,138], under which condition PEMFC shows more promising advantages and has been devoted more and more efforts [21,157]. It has been shown that the degradation of catalysts is accelerated at improved temperatures [5]. So the durability issues of catalysts for potential application in high-temperature PEMFC is a still harder nut to crack, and should be put emphasis on.

### References

- J.R. Yu, T. Matsuura, Y. Yoshikawa, M.N. Islam, M. Hori, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 8 (2005) A156.
- [2] S.D. Knights, K.M. Colbow, J. St-Pierre, D.P. Wilkinson, J. Power Sources 127 (2004) 127.
- [3] J.R. Yu, T. Matsuura, Y. Yoshikawa, M.N. Islam, M. Hori, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 7 (2005) 373.
- [4] E. Antolini, J. Mater. Sci. 38 (2003) 2995.
- [5] M. Mathias, H. Gasteiger, R. Makharia, S. Kocha, T. Fuller, J. Pisco, Abstr. Pap. Am. Chem. Soc. 228 (2004) U653.

- [6] X. Cheng, L. Chen, C. Peng, Z.W. Chen, Y. Zhang, Q.B. Fan, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) A48.
- [7] J. Xie, D.L. Wood, K.L. More, P. Atanassov, R.L. Borup, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A1011.
- [8] J.G. Liu, Z.H. Zhou, X.X. Zhao, Q. Xin, G.Q. Sun, B.L. Yi, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 6 (2004) 134.
- [9] Y.Y. Shao, G.P. Yin, Y.Z. Gao, P.F. Shi, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1093.
- [10] Y.Y. Shao, G.P. Yin, J. Zhang, Y.Z. Gao, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 5853.
- [11] C.A. Reiser, L. Bregoli, T.W. Patterson, J.S. Yi, J.D.L. Yang, M.L. Perry, T.D. Jarvi, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 8 (2005) A273.
- [12] D.A. Stevens, M.T. Hicks, G.M. Haugen, J.R. Dahn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A2309.
- [13] Y. Shao, Investigation on the stability of Pt/carbon nanotube catalysts and novel methods for the preparation of the electrodes for PEMFC, Ph.D. Thesis, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin, China, 2006.
- [14] M.S. Wilson, F.H. Garzon, K.E. Sickafus, S. Gottesfeld, J. Electrochem. Soc. 140 (1993) 2872.
- [15] J. Xie, D.L. Wood, D.M. Wayne, T.A. Zawodzinski, P. Atanassov, R.L. Borup, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A104.
- [16] M. Fowler, J.C. Amphlett, R.F. Mann, B.A. Peppley, P.R. Roberge, J. New Mater. Electrochem. Syst. 5 (2002) 255.
- [17] P.J. Ferreira, G.J. La, O.Y. Shao-Horn, D. Morgan, R. Makharia, S. Kocha, H.A. Gasteiger, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A2256.
- [18] A. Sun, J. Franc, D.D. Macdonald, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) B260.
- [19] E. Guilminot, A. Corcella, F. Charlot, F. Maillard, M. Chatenet, J. Electrochem. Soc. 154 (2007) B96.
- [20] G.X. Wang, L. Yang, J.Z. Wang, H.K. Liu, S.X. Dou, J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 5 (2005) 1135.
- [21] Y. Shao, G. Yin, Z. Wang, Y. Gao, J. Power Sources 167 (2007) 235.
- [22] K. Ota, A. Ishihara, S. Mitsushima, K. Lee, Y. Suzuki, N. Horibe, T. Nakagawa, N. Kamiya, J. New Mater. Electrochem. Syst. 8 (2005) 25.
- [23] K. Juodkazis, J. Juodkazyte, T. Juodiene, V. Sukiene, I. Savickaja, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 6159.
- [24] M. Alsabet, M. Grden, G. Jerkiewicz, J. Electroanal. Chem. 589 (2006) 120.
- [25] G. Jerkiewicz, G. Vatankhah, J. Lessard, M.P. Soriaga, Y.S. Park, Electrochim. Acta 49 (2004) 1451.
- [26] M. Lukaszewski, A. Czerwinski, J. Electroanal. Chem. 589 (2006) 38.
- [27] N.V. Korovin, Electrochim. Acta 39 (1994) 1503.
- [28] H. Tang, Z.G. Qi, M. Ramani, J.F. Elter, J. Power Sources 158 (2006) 1306.
- [29] Z. Siroma, N. Fujiwara, T. Ioroi, S. Yamazaki, K. Yasuda, Y. Miyazaki, J. Power Sources 126 (2004) 41.
- [30] H.T. Deng, P.F. Liu, Q.X. Zha, Acta Chim. Sin. 51 (1993) 143.
- [31] J. Willsau, J. Heitbaum, J. Electroanal. Chem. 161 (1984) 93.
- [32] A. Taniguchi, T. Akita, K. Yasuda, Y. Miyazaki, J. Power Sources 130 (2004) 42.
- [33] Z. Siroma, K. Ishii, K. Yasuda, Y. Miyazaki, M. Inaba, A. Tasaka, Electrochem. Commun. 7 (2005) 1153.
- [34] L. Li, Y.C. Xing, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1823.
- [35] B.J. Eastwood, P.A. Christensen, R.D. Armstrong, N.R. Bates, J. Solid State Electrochem. 3 (1999) 179.
- [36] L.M. Roen, C.H. Paik, T.D. Jarvic, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A19.
- [37] K.H. Kangasniemi, D.A. Condit, T.D. Jarvi, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) E125.
- [38] D.A. Stevens, J.R. Dahn, Carbon 43 (2005) 179.
- [39] O.A. Baturina, S.R. Aubuchon, K.J. Wynne, Chem. Mater. 18 (2006) 1498.
- [40] M. Cai, M.S. Ruthkosky, B. Merzougui, S. Swathirajan, M.P. Balogh, S.H. Oh, J. Power Sources 160 (2006) 977.
- [41] F. Coloma, A. Sepulvedaescribano, F. Rodriguezreinoso, J. Catal. 154 (1995) 299.
- [42] C. He, S. Desai, G. Brown, S. Bollepalli, Interface 14 (2005) 41.
- [43] M.K. Debe, A. Schmoeckel, S. Hendricks, G. Vernstrom, G. Haugen, R. Atanasoski, ECS Trans. 1 (2006) 51.

- [44] S.Y. Ahn, S.J. Shin, H.Y. Ha, S.A. Hong, Y.C. Lee, T.W. Lim, I.H. Oh, J. Power Sources 106 (2002) 295.
- [45] K. Yasuda, A. Taniguchi, T. Akita, T. Ioroi, Z. Siroma, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 8 (2006) 746.
- [46] A. Honji, T. Mori, K. Tamura, Y. Hishinuma, J. Electrochem. Soc. 135 (1988) 355.
- [47] M. Watanabe, K. Tsurumi, T. Mizukami, T. Nakamura, P. Stonehart, J. Electrochem. Soc. 141 (1994) 2659.
- [48] K.F. Blurton, H.R. Kunz, D.R. Rutt, Electrochim. Acta 23 (1978) 183.
- [49] J.A.S. Bett, K. Kinoshita, P. Stonehart, J. Catal. 41 (1976) 124.
- [50] G.A. Gruver, R.F. Pascoe, H.R. Kunz, J. Electrochem. Soc. 127 (1980) 1219.
- [51] Y.F. Zhai, H.M. Zhang, D.M. Xing, Z.G. Shao, J. Power Sources 164 (2007) 126.
- [52] J. Aragane, H. Urushibata, T. Murahashi, J. Appl. Electrochem. 26 (1996) 147.
- [53] J. Aragane, T. Murahashi, T. Odaka, J. Electrochem. Soc. 135 (1988) 844.
- [54] T. Akita, A. Taniguchi, J. Maekawa, Z. Sirorna, K. Tanaka, M. Kohyama, K. Yasuda, J. Power Sources 159 (2006) 461.
- [55] K. Yasuda, A. Taniguchi, T. Akita, T. Ioroi, Z. Siroma, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1599.
- [56] J.A. Bett, K. Kinoshita, P. Stonehart, J. Catal. 35 (1974) 307.
- [57] C.G. Granqvist, R.A. Buhrman, J. Catal. 42 (1976) 477.
- [58] R. Giorgi, P. Ascarelli, S. Turtu, V. Contini, Appl. Surf. Sci. 178 (2001) 149.
- [59] P. Ascarelli, V. Contini, R. Giorgi, J. Appl. Phys. 91 (2002) 4556.
- [60] G. Liu, H.M. Zhang, J.W. Hu, Y.F. Zhai, D.Y. Xu, Z.G. Shao, J. Power Sources 162 (2006) 547.
- [61] K. Kinoshita, J.T. Lundquist, P. Stonehart, J. Electroanal. Chem. 48 (1973) 157.
- [62] R.M. Darling, J.P. Meyers, J. Electrochem. Soc. 150 (2003) A1523.
- [63] R. Borup, J. Davey, D. Wood, F. Garzon, M. Inbody, VII.I.3 PEM Fuel Cell Durability, DOE Hydrogen Program FY 2005 Progress Report, 2005, p. 1039.
- [64] R.L. Borup, J.R. Davey, F.H. Garzon, D.L. Wood, M.A. Inbody, J. Power Sources 163 (2006) 76.
- [65] X.P. Wang, R. Kumar, D.J. Myers, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 9 (2006) A225.
- [66] Z. Nagy, H. You, Electrochim. Acta 47 (2002) 3037.
- [67] S. Mitsushima, S. Kawahara, K.I. Ota, N. Kamiya, J. Electrochem. Soc. 154 (2007) B153.
- [68] K.I. Ota, S. Nishigori, N. Kamiya, J. Electroanal. Chem. 257 (1988) 205.
- [69] C.H. Paik, G.S. Saloka, G.W. Graham, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 10 (2007) B39.
- [70] M.F. Mathias, R. Makharia, H.A. Gasteiger, J.J. Conley, T.J. Fuller, C.J. Gittleman, S.S. Kocha, D.P. Miller, C.K. Mittelsteadt, T. Xie, S.G. Yan, P.T. Yu, Interface 14 (2005) 24.
- [71] H. Xu, R. Kunz, J.M. Fenton, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 10 (2007) B1.
- [72] M.S. Wilson, J.A. Valerio, S. Gottesfeld, Electrochim. Acta 40 (1995) 355.
- [73] Y.F. Chu, E. Ruckenstein, Surf. Sci. 67 (1977) 517.
- [74] J.H. Vleeming, B.F.M. Kuster, G.B. Marin, F. Oudet, P. Courtine, J. Catal. 166 (1997) 148.
- [75] J.M. Moore, P.L. Adcock, J.B. Lakeman, G.O. Mepsted, J. Power Sources 85 (2000) 254.
- [76] X.S. Zhao, G.Q. Sun, L.H. Jiang, W.M. Chen, S.H. Tang, B. Zhou, Q. Xin, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 8 (2005) A149.
- [77] J.J. Zhang, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, D.T. Song, J. Shen, Z.S. Liu, J. Power Sources 147 (2005) 58.
- [78] D.J. Yang, J.X. Ma, L. Xu, M.Z. Wu, H.J. Wang, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 4039.
- [79] R. Mohtadi, W.K. Lee, J.W. Van Zee, J. Power Sources 138 (2004) 216.
- [80] T. Gu, W.K. Lee, J.W. Van Zee, Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 56 (2005) 43.
- [81] F.A. de Bruijn, D.C. Papageorgopoulos, E.F. Sitters, G.J.M. Janssen, J. Power Sources 110 (2002) 117.
- [82] D.C. Papageorgopoulos, F.A. de Bruijn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 149 (2002) A140.

- [83] C. Sishtla, G. Koncar, R. Platon, S. Gamburzev, A.J. Appleby, O.A. Velev, J. Power Sources 71 (1998) 249.
- [84] E. Endoh, S. Terazono, H. Widjaja, Y. Takimoto, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A209.
- [85] F. Coloma, A. Sepulvedaescribano, J.L.G. Fierro, F. Rodriguezreinoso, Langmuir 10 (1994) 750.
- [86] D. Bom, R. Andrews, D. Jacques, J. Anthony, B.L. Chen, M.S. Meier, J.P. Selegue, Nano Lett. 2 (2002) 615.
- [87] J. Lee, J. Kim, T. Hyeon, Adv. Mater. 18 (2006) 2073.
- [88] R. Andrews, D. Jacques, D.L. Qian, T. Rantell, Acc. Chem. Res. 35 (2002) 1008.
- [89] H.J. Dai, Acc. Chem. Res. 35 (2002) 1035.
- [90] K.P. De Jong, J.W. Geus, Catal. Rev. Sci. Eng. 42 (2000) 481.
- [91] A.L. Dicks, J. Power Sources 156 (2006) 128.
- [92] P. Serp, M. Corrias, P. Kalck, Appl. Catal. A-Gen. 253 (2003) 337.
- [93] K. Lee, J.J. Zhang, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, J. Appl. Electrochem. 36 (2006) 507.
- [94] T. Yoshitake, Y. Shimakawa, S. Kuroshima, H. Kimura, T. Ichihashi, Y. Kubo, D. Kasuya, K. Takahashi, F. Kokai, M. Yudasaka, S. Iijima, Phys. B 323 (2002) 124.
- [95] E.S. Steigerwalt, G.A. Deluga, D.E. Cliffel, C.M. Lukehart, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 8097.
- [96] C.A. Bessel, K. Laubernds, N.M. Rodriguez, R.T.K. Baker, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 1115.
- [97] X. Wang, W.Z. Li, Z.W. Chen, M. Waje, Y.S. Yan, J. Power Sources 158 (2006) 154.
- [98] H.T. Fang, C.G. Liu, L. Chang, L. Feng, L. Min, H.M. Cheng, Chem. Mater. 16 (2004) 5744.
- [99] P.H. Matter, L. Zhang, U.S. Ozkan, J. Catal. 239 (2006) 83.
- [100] P.H. Matter, E. Wang, U.S. Ozkan, J. Catal. 243 (2006) 395.
- [101] R.A. Sidik, A.B. Anderson, N.P. Subramanian, S.P. Kumaraguru, B.N. Popov, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 1787.
- [102] S. Maldonado, K.J. Stevenson, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 4707.
- [103] S. van Dommele, K.P. de Jong, J.H. Bitter, Chem. Commun. (2006) 4859.
- [104] R. Czerw, M. Terrones, J.C. Charlier, X. Blase, B. Foley, R. Kamalakaran, N. Grobert, H. Terrones, D. Tekleab, P.M. Ajayan, W. Blau, M. Ruhle, D.L. Carroll, Nano Lett. 1 (2001) 457.
- [105] V.V. Strelko, V.S. Kuts, P.A. Thrower, Carbon 38 (2000) 1499.
- [106] V.V. Strelko, N.T. Kartel, I.N. Dukhno, V.S. Kuts, R.B. Clarkson, B.M. Odintsov, Surf. Sci. 548 (2004) 281.
- [107] M.K. Debe, A.K. Schmoeckel, G.D. Vernstrorn, R. Atanasoski, J. Power Sources 161 (2006) 1002.
- [108] V.R. Stamenkovic, B. Fowler, B.S. Mun, G.F. Wang, P.N. Ross, C.A. Lucas, N.M. Markovic, Science 315 (2007) 493.
- [109] E. Antolini, J.R.C. Salgado, E.R. Gonzalez, J. Power Sources 160 (2006) 957.
- [110] J. Zhang, K. Sasaki, E. Sutter, R.R. Adzic, Science 315 (2007) 220.
- [111] H.R. Colon-Mercado, H. Kim, B.N. Popov, Electrochem. Commun. 6 (2004) 795.
- [112] Z.D. Wei, H.T. Guo, Z.Y. Tang, J. Power Sources 62 (1996) 233.
- [113] G. Liu, H.M. Zhang, H.X. Zhong, J.W. Hu, D.Y. Xu, Z.G. Shao, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 5710.
- [114] G. Liu, H.M. Zhang, Y.F. Zhai, Y. Zhang, D.Y. Xu, Z.G. Shao, Electrochem. Commun. 9 (2007) 135.
- [115] W.M. Chen, G.Q. Sun, J.S. Guo, X.S. Zhao, S.Y. Yan, J. Tian, S.H. Tang, Z.H. Zhou, Q. Xin, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 2391.
- [116] Y.M. Liang, H.M. Zhang, Z.Q. Tian, X.B. Zhu, X.L. Wang, B.L. Yi, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 7828.
- [117] A. Seo, J. Lee, K. Han, H. Kim, Electrochim. Acta 52 (2006) 1603.
- [118] L.J. Wan, T. Moriyama, M. Ito, H. Uchida, M. Watanabe, Chem. Commun. (2002) 58.
- [119] T. Toda, H. Igarashi, H. Uchida, M. Watanabe, J. Electrochem. Soc. 146 (1999) 3750.
- [120] T. Toda, H. Igarashi, M. Watanabe, J. Electroanal. Chem. 460 (1999) 258.
- [121] W. Roh, J. Cho, H. Kim, J. Appl. Electrochem. 26 (1996) 623.

- [122] P. Yu, M. Pemberton, P. Plasse, J. Power Sources 144 (2005) 11.
- [123] H.R. Colon-Mercado, B.N. Popov, J. Power Sources 155 (2006) 253.
- [124] T. Okada, Y. Ayato, M. Yuasa, I. Sekine, J. Phys. Chem. B 103 (1999) 3315.
- [125] T. Okada, Y. Ayato, H. Satou, M. Yuasa, I. Sekine, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 6980.
- [126] H.A. Gasteiger, S.S. Kocha, B. Sompalli, F.T. Wagner, Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 56 (2005) 9.
- [127] J. Zhang, Y. Mo, M.B. Vukmirovic, R. Klie, K. Sasaki, R.R. Adzic, J. Phys. Chem. B 108 (2004) 10955.
- [128] K. Sasaki, J.L. Zhang, J. Wang, F. Uribe, R. Adzic, Res. Chem. Intermed. 32 (2006) 543.
- [129] J. Zhang, M.B. Vukmirovic, K. Sasaki, F. Uribe, R.R. Adzic, J. Serb. Chem. Soc. 70 (2005) 513.
- [130] J. Zhang, F.H.B. Lima, M.H. Shao, K. Sasaki, J.X. Wang, J. Hanson, R.R. Adzic, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 22701.
- [131] S.R. Brankovic, J.X. Wang, R.R. Adzic, Surf. Sci. 474 (2001) L173.
- [132] K. Sasaki, Y. Mo, J.X. Wang, M. Balasubramanian, F. Uribe, J. McBreen, R.R. Adzic, Electrochim. Acta 48 (2003) 3841.
- [133] F.A. Uribe, T.A. Zawodzinski, Electrochim. Acta 47 (2002) 3799.
- [134] S. Mukerjee, S. Srinivasan, M.P. Soriaga, J. McBreen, J. Electrochem. Soc. 142 (1995) 1409.
- [135] T. Toda, H. Igarashi, M. Watanabe, J. Electrochem. Soc. 145 (1998) 4185.
- [136] J. Roques, A.B. Anderson, Surf. Sci. 581 (2005) 105.
- [137] J. Roques, A.B. Anderson, V.S. Murthi, S. Mukerjee, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) E193.
- [138] Z.G. Qi, S. Buelte, J. Power Sources 161 (2006) 1126.
- [139] A. Bonakdarpour, J. Wenzel, D.A. Stevens, S. Sheng, T.L. Monchesky, R. Lobel, R.T. Atanasoski, A.K. Schmoeckel, G.D. Vernstrom, M.K. Debe, J.R. Dahn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A61.
- [140] A. Bonakdarpour, R. Lobel, S. Sheng, T.L. Monchesky, J.R. Dahn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A2304.
- [141] A. Bonakdarpour, R. Lobel, R.T. Atanasoski, G.D. Vernstrom, A.K. Schmoeckel, M.K. Debe, J.R. Dahn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1835.
- [142] M. Inaba, H. Yamada, J. Tokunaga, A. Tasaka, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A474.
- [143] E. Antolini, Mater. Chem. Phys. 78 (2003) 563.
- [144] U.A. Paulus, T.J. Schmidt, H.A. Gasteiger, R.J. Behm, J. Electroanal. Chem. 495 (2001) 134.
- [145] V.O. Mittal, H.R. Kunz, J.M. Fenton, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 9 (2006) A299.
- [146] T. Kinumoto, K. Takai, Y. Iriyama, T. Abe, M. Inaba, Z. Ogumi, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A58.
- [147] K. Teranishi, K. Kawata, S. Tsushima, S. Hirai, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 9 (2006) A475.
- [148] R. Makharia, S. Kocha, P. Yu, M.A. Sweikart, W. Gu, F. Wagner, H.A. Gasteiger, ECS Trans. 1 (2006) 3.
- [149] V. Komanicky, K.C. Chang, A. Menzel, N.M. Markovic, H. You, X. Wang, D. Myers, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) B446.
- [150] J.L. Zhang, M.B. Vukmirovic, K. Sasaki, A.U. Nilekar, M. Mavrikakis, R.R. Adzic, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 12480.
- [151] M.B. Vukmirovic, J. Zhang, K. Sasaki, A.U. Nilekar, F. Uribe, M. Mavrikakis, R.R. Adzic, Electrochim. Acta 52 (2007) 2257.
- [152] Z. Shi, J.J. Zhang, Z.S. Liu, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 1905.
- [153] M. Mavrikakis, Nat. Mater. 5 (2006) 847.
- [154] J. Greeley, T.F. Jaramillo, J. Bonde, I.B. Chorkendorff, J.K. Norskov, Nat. Mater. 5 (2006) 909.
- [155] C.A. Menning, H.H. Hwu, J.G.G. Chen, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 15471.
- [156] Z.H. Gu, P.B. Balbuena, J. Phys. Chem. A 110 (2006) 9783.
- [157] J.L. Zhang, Z. Xie, J.J. Zhang, Y.H. Tanga, C.J. Song, T. Navessin, Z.Q. Shi, D.T. Song, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, Z.S. Liu, S. Holdcroft, J. Power Sources 160 (2006) 872.